IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-878

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Chief Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0150177

ANNA-LIISA NIXON Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 26283

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural History

On April 25, 1981, Mr. Lightbourne was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County (R. 1436), and on May 1, 1981, he was sentenced to death (R. 1500).

On September 15, 1983, Mr. Lightbourne's conviction and sentence of death

were affirmed on direct appeal.¹ Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983).

¹ Mr. Lightbourne raised the following issues in his direct appeal: (1) The indictment did not allege the time of the offense "as definitely as possible" under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(d)(3), the indictment was overbroad and vague, and the indictment could be construed as charging only felony murder and charging only felony murder and proving premeditated murder is impermissible; (2) The trial court erred in denying defendant's second motion to dismiss the indictment on the grounds that aggravating circumstances to be applied at the sentencing phase in capital felony cases must be originally alleged in the indictment in order to confer jurisdiction on a court to impose a sentence of death; (3) various constitutional challenges to Florida Statutes 775.082(1), 782.04(1), and 021.141 (1981); (4) Theodore Chavers was acting as an agent of the state during the time he shared a cell with the defendant and any statements that the defendant made to Chavers should have been suppressed because defendant did not know he was talking to a government agent and such statements were obtained in violation of his constitutionally guaranteed privilege against self incrimination and his right to counsel; (5) Personal items taken from the defendant at the time of his arrests on the weapons charge should have been held inadmissible in his trial on the murder charge; (6) Defendant's detention by Officer McGowan prior to his arrest on the concealed weapons charge constituted an illegal stop under the rationale of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); (7) Certain videotaped statements made by defendant should have been held inadmissible under the rationale of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966); (8) The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to impose sanctions under Rule 3.220(j) for the state's failure to properly notify defendant of a deposition to be taken of a listed state witness; and (9) The death sentence was not justified because it was based on inappropriate aggravating circumstances, the

Justice Overton dissented and would have granted Mr. Lightbourne a new trial based on a *Henry*² violation.³ Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court was denied on

February 21, 1984. Lightbourne v. Florida, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984).

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter sought post conviction relief on May 31, 1985.⁴

No evidentiary hearing was afforded, and relief was summarily denied the same

court failed to consider an unenumerated mitigating circumstance, and the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances.

² United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980).

³ Justice Overton wrote:

I reluctantly dissent because I find the recent United States Supreme Court decision in United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980), mandates a reversal under the circumstances of this case. A jailhouse informer was placed in a cell adjacent to appellant's and was requested to keep his ears open. The investigating officer understood that the informant expected something in return for his information, and the informant was paid two hundred dollars in cash, in addition to being released nineteen days early in return for his services. These factors make the informant an agent of the state under the dictates of Henry, which requires suppression of the statements made by the appellant to the informant in the absence of Miranda warnings. I find we have no choice but to grant a new trial.

Id. at 392 (Overton, J., dissenting).

⁴ Mr. Lightbourne's 3.850 motion raised the following issues: (1) Lightbourne was entitled to the aid of experts; (2) trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing; (3) trial counsel's treatment of the jailhouse informers was a plain example of ineffective assistance; (4) trial counsel failed to investigate; (5) the prosecutor unlawfully struck black jurors; (6) the evidence was insufficient to sustain the verdict or the penalty; and (7) trial counsel was ineffective in not seeking jury sequestration.

day. This Court affirmed the summary denial of relief on June 3, 1985. *Lightbourne v. State*, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985). Justices Overton, McDonald, and Shaw, dissented. *Id.* at 29.

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in district court on June 3, 1985, which was denied on August 20, 1986.⁵ The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of federal habeas corpus relief on September 17, 1986, over the ardent dissent of Judge Anderson, who found that the *Henry* violation warranted a resentencing:

[T]he error is not harmless with regard to sentencing. Chavers' testimony contained the only direct evidence of oral sexual assault on the victim as well as the only graphic descriptions of the sexual attack and comments by the defendant about the victim's anatomy. Since this evidence would support the existence of an aggravating circumstance, and since it was likely to have been influential with the jury on the sentencing issue, I cannot

⁵ In his federal habeas petition, Mr. Lightbourne argued (1) that police interrogators violated *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), in the course of obtaining incriminating statements during custodial interrogation; (2) that he was denied the right to the assistance of counsel in violation of *Massiah v. United States*, 377 U.S. 201 (1964), and its progeny, by the admission of incriminating statements made to cellmate Chavers; (3) that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's representation in violation of his right to effective assistance of counsel under the rationale of *Cuyler v. Sullivan*, 446 U.S. 335 (1980); (4) that trial counsel was ineffective by the failure to adequately investigate petitioner's background and offer additional evidence of mitigating circumstances at the sentencing phase; (5) that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the trial judge's consideration of the statements in the PSI report; and (6) trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request the sequestration of the jury between conviction and sentencing, but the court wouldn't consider the issue because it wasn't raised in the habeas petition.

conclude that the testimony was harmless with regard to sentencing.

Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F.2d 1012, 1035 (11th Cir. 1987) (Anderson, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

On January 27, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, which was denied on July 20, 1989.⁶

On January 30, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed his second Rule 3.850 motion, alleging new information establishing a $Brady^7$ violation with respect to jailhouse informants Chavers and Carson/Gallman.⁸ This Court remanded for an evidentiary

⁷ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

⁶ In his petition for a writ of habeas corpus to this Court, Mr. Lightbourne argued that his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the following claims: (1) The sentencing court erred by failing to independently weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances; (2) The trial court erroneously instructed the jury on aggravating circumstances that were duplicitous; (3) The "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating factor was unconstitutionally applied; (4) The "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally applied; (5) The prosecutor and the court misled and misinformed the jury concerning their proper role in the sentencing proceedings; (6) The jury instructions could reasonably have been read as requiring the mitigating circumstances to be established beyond a reasonable doubt; (7) The sentencing instructions unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant; and (8) The court's instructions misled the jurors by informing them that a verdict of life imprisonment had to be rendered by a majority of the jury.

⁸ In this 3.850 motion, Mr. Lightbourne argued (1) that the state deliberately used false and misleading testimony and intentionally withheld material exculpatory evidence; (2) that the State's unconstitutional use of jailhouse informants to obtain statements violated Mr. Lightbourne's constitutional rights; (3) that he was denied his constitutional rights because he was tried, convicted, and sentenced to death before a judge who was not impartial; and (4) that his trial

hearing. *Lightbourne v. Dugger*, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). Evidentiary hearings were held in circuit court in 1990. The circuit court granted Mr. Lightbourne's April 17, 1991 motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing, and an additional hearing was conducted. The circuit court denied relief on June 12, 1992, and Mr. Lightbourne appealed. This Court affirmed on June 16, 1994. *Lightbourne v. State*, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994). On January 28, 1995, Mr. Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on March 27, 1995.

On November 7, 1994, Mr. Lightbourne filed a rule 3.850 motion requesting another evidentiary hearing to present additional evidence in support of his *Brady* claim.⁹ A hearing was held on October 23 and 24, 1995. On February 23, 1996, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the hearing to present additional testimony and a motion to disqualify the state attorney. The circuit court held a

counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence at the sentencing phase of his trial.

⁹ In this 3.850 motion, Mr. Lightbourne argued that: 1) he was denied an adversarial testing when critical, exculpatory evidence was not presented to the jury during the guilt or penalty phase of his trial, 2) the State's unconstitutional use of jailhouse informants to obtain statements violated Mr. Lightbourne's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights; 3) access to files and records pertaining to Mr. Lightbourne's case in the possession of certain state agencies has been withheld in violation of Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., and Mr. Lightbourne cannot prepare an adequate Rule 3.850 motion until he has received public records materials and been afforded due time to review those materials and amend; 4) Mr. Lightbourne is innocent of the death sentence.

hearing on these motions on March 15, 1996, and denied both motions. The circuit court denied relief on June 19, 1996. On appeal, this Court held that Mr. Lightbourne was not barred from presenting the testimony of Larry Bernard Emanuel, an inmate who was incarcerated with Mr. Lightbourne prior to trial, and remanded "for an evidentiary hearing as to Emanuel's testimony and for the trial court to consider the cumulative effect of the post-trial evidence in evaluating the reliability and veracity of Chavers' and Carson's trial testimony in determining whether a new penalty phase is required." *Lightbourne v. State*, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999). The evidentiary hearing occurred on December 2, 1999 (PC-R2. 911-1088). On February 26, 2001, the circuit court denied relief. (*Id.* at 1395-97).

On March 12, 2001, Mr. Lightbourne filed a 3.850 appeal, which was denied on January 16, 2003. On June 17, 2003, Mr. Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on November 10, 2003.

Mr. Lightbourne thereafter filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in this Court on June 18, 2003, which was denied on August 17, 2004.¹⁰ On February 14, 2005, Mr. Lightbourne filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the U.S. Supreme Court, which was denied on June 20, 2005.

¹⁰ In this petition, Mr. Lightbourne argued that Florida's capital sentencing procedures, as employed in his case, violated his Sixth Amendment right to have a unanimous jury return a verdict addressing his guilt of all the elements necessary for the crime of capital first degree murder, in violation of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

On February 27, 2006, Mr. Lightbourne filed a successive rule 3.851 motion, alleging that his rights under the Vienna Convention had been violated and that Florida's lethal injection statute as well as the existing procedure by which Florida carries out executions by lethal injection violate the Florida and U.S. Constitutions (PC-R4. 1-108). The circuit court denied his motion without an evidentiary hearing and Mr. Lightbourne appealed to this Court. On December 14, 2006, after the State had filed its answer brief, Mr. Lightbourne filed an all writs petition in this Court based on the events that occurred during the botched execution of Angel Diaz. This Court thereafter relinquished jurisdiction to the circuit court and the circuit court denied relief on Mr. Lightbourne's lethal injection challenge after an evidentiary hearing. This Court affirmed the circuit court's denial of relief on November 1, 2007, Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), and the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Lightbourne's petition for a writ of certiorari on May 19, 2008. Lightbourne v. McCollum, 553 U.S. 1059 (2008).

On November 29, 2011, Mr. Lightbourne filed a second successive Rule 3.851 motion based on the recent United States Supreme Court opinion in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). PC-R5 1-30. The circuit court held a case management conference on February 23, 2011, and thereafter summarily denied Mr. Lightbourne's motion on March 29, 2011. PC-R5. 151-48. Mr. Lightbourne

14

timely filed a notice of appeal, PC-R5. 208-10, and this appeal follows.

B. Trial and Sentencing

The only evidence trial counsel presented in mitigation was the testimony of Mr. Lightbourne that consisted of less than three transcript pages. Mr. Lightbourne told the jury that he was 21 years old, a Bahamian citizen, a high school graduate, and had never been convicted of a crime before. The trial court found two mitigating factors: 1) no significant history of prior criminal activity; and 2) the defendant was 21 at the time of the offense. (R. 1187-92).

The trial court also found the following aggravating circumstances: 1) committed in the commission of a burglary and a sexual battery; 2) committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful; 3) committed for pecuniary gain; 4) especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and 5) committed in a cold and calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. *Id*.

C. Postconviction Proceedings

i. Ineffective assistance of counsel claim

In postconviction, Mr. Lightbourne alleged that had his counsel conducted a proper mitigation investigation, he would have been able to present to the jury evidence that Ian Lightbourne was born at home in the Bahamas, without medical assistance, in 1959. His parents were never married and his father deserted the family to live with another woman shortly after Ian's birth. He never offered any assistance or support to his family. Ian was raised in an area called Dumping Ground Corners—so named because it had formerly been the site of a public refuse dump—amidst abject poverty and squalor. Most of the homes in the area were the most rudimentary of shacks, consisting of one or two rooms without running water or sanitary facilities, often occupied by eight or more people.

Ian's mother, Naomi Neely, was illiterate and supported Ian and her nine other children by working several regular jobs and preparing and selling food out of her home. The family was deeply religious, and was intimately involved with the Catholic church. Ian was the head alter boy at the local church, serving mass weekly from the age of seven until he left the Bahamas at age seventeen.

Ian was a model child and an A student at St. Joseph's grammar school. The support in the community for Ian was unanimous and overwhelming, as evidenced by the seventeen letters of support from members of Ian's community proffered by post-conviction counsel, as well as a letter of support signed by 53 members of Ian's township. The elderly people in the community remembered Ian for his perfect manners and the respect he always showed them. Many grew to depend on Ian's help in performing chores and running errands, such as bringing water from the communal pump and retrieving groceries. Ian was also a talented athlete and handyman.

Those who knew him are in unanimous agreement that Ian was one of the

most nonviolent, non-argumentative, and congenial persons they had ever known. Ian was never in any serious trouble at school or in the streets, and was remembered as being cooperative and honest by teachers at his high school. No one could reconcile his conviction with the character and reputation he displayed in the community. The only trouble anyone could remember Ian being involved in was an incident at age sixteen. His mother described: "[A] retarded man in the neighborhood, who was a big man who often picked on the children, was drunk and pulled a knife on Ian and shoved him down in the street. Ian started to cry when this happened and threw some rocks at him out of fear. Ian was taken to the police station and was lashed for throwing stones." (Affidavit of Naomi Neely).

The flip side of Ian's outwardly normal life was the turmoil he suffered at home, especially at the hands of his older brother, Stan McNeil. Ian, like most males his age in the community, had an interest in horses and a pervasive desire to be a successful jockey. Until 1973, there was a horsetrack in the area which employed many of the local men. Stan McNeil had been a successful jockey, locally famous for his riding skills. As the oldest male in the family, Stan was naturally admired by Ian, and also idolized for his success as a jockey. Ian's interest in horses no doubt arose in part as an attempt to emulate Stan.

Stan, on the other hand, did not return Ian's admiration and respect. Stan's reputation in the family and the community was that of a tyrannical despot given to

violent episodes of temper aggravated by his drinking problem, and Ian was the usual subject of these unprovoked outbursts:

Stan always drank a lot and it made his head bad... [He] is nine years older than Ian and would always pick on Ian because Ian would let him get away with it. When Stan would tell Ian to do something, Ian would always obey him, even if he was just being mean. When Stan was drinking... he would beat Ian just because he felt like it. Stan would beat Ian three times a week.

(Affidavit of Naomi Neely). The beatings inflicted upon Ian were severe, on several occasions resulting in his hospitalization. Stan kept a horsewhip at home for the purpose of beating Ian, and often employed other hard objects, such as rocks and bottles, to inflict his punishment. On one occasion, Stan beat him about the head so severely that his head swelled, requiring medical attention and medication. On another occasion, Stan threw a hatchet at Ian and hit him in the arm, inflicting a deep wound which required stitches and left a scar that remains to this day.

The beatings ultimately took their psychological, as well as physical, toll on Ian. As related by Mrs. Neely, "[T]he beatings by Stan made Ian very jumpy as he grew up. One night when Ian was about sixteen or seventeen he was pitching in his sleep and I went in to see what was wrong. He said he felt real bad and couldn't sleep because he kept seeing things in the room." As a result of this episode, Mrs. Neely took Ian to see a psychiatrist, who interviewed Ian and asked that he return. When Stan found out, he beat Ian on the head with a shoe for waking his mother in the middle of the night. Upon Ian's return to the psychiatrist, the doctor learned of Ian's situation at home and requested that he return with Stan and his sisters. Stan, of course, refused to visit the psychiatrist, and Ian never received the psychiatric counseling he so obviously needed.

The inner turmoil caused by his relationship with Stan was also reflected in Ian's school work. His grades began slipping and his teachers became concerned about his lethargic behavior. Some concerned school administrators, noticing that he seemed upset with his home situation, attempted to help him, but failed to uncover the cause of his problems, the physical abuse inflicted by Stan. Ian became more and more obsessed with his dream of becoming a successful jockey like Stan, and at one time expressed in an interview with his high school guidance counselor his overwhelming desire to be a horse.

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