IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC11-878

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
Telephone: (386) 238-4990
Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). This Court decisively rejected Marek's attempt to relitigate his previously-denied Strickland claims. See Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128 (concluding that "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland"). Here, as in Marek, the existence of a "newer" case applying Strickland does not equate with a change in the law which is retroactive.

Porter did not change the standard of review and this Court has not been misapplying Strickland's standard of review. Lightbourne's claim is legally insufficient and without merit.

Porter is limited to the facts in that case.

In Porter v. McCollum, the state courts did not decide whether Porter's counsel was deficient under Strickland. As a result, the United States Supreme Court assessed the first prong of Porter's penalty phase ineffectiveness claim de novo. Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 452. The United States Supreme Court found that trial counsel failed to uncover and present any evidence of Porter's mental health or mental impairment, his family background, or his military service; and, "although Porter may have been fatalistic or uncooperative," that did not "obviate the need for defense counsel to conduct some sort of mitigation investigation." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 453. The United States Supreme Court determined that trial counsel was deficient under the first prong of Strickland and

emphasized that if *Porter's* counsel had been effective, the judge and jury would have learned of "(1) Porter's heroic military service in two of the most critical - and horrific - battles of the Korean War, (2) his struggles to regain normality upon his return from war, (3) his childhood history of physical abuse, and (4) his brain abnormality, difficulty reading and writing, and limited schooling." *Porter*, 130 S.Ct. at 454.

In addressing this Court's adjudication of the second prejudice - prong of Strickland, the United States Supreme Court reiterated that the test for prejudice is whether "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. And, "[t]o assess that probability, [the Court] consider[s] the totality of the available mitigation evidence - both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding - and reweigh[s] it against the evidence in aggravation." Porter, 130 S.Ct. 447, 453-54 (quotation marks and brackets omitted). The United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's decision that Porter was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to conduct a thorough - or even cursory - investigation was unreasonable because it "either did not consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence adduced in the postconviction hearing." Porter, 130 S.Ct. at 454-455. For example, the mental health evidence, which included Dr. Dee's

testimony regarding the existence of a brain abnormality and cognitive defects, was not considered in this Court's discussion of nonstatutory mitigation. *Porter*, 130 S.Ct. at 455, n. 7. In addition, the United States Supreme Court found that this Court unreasonably discounted evidence of *Porter's* childhood abuse and combat military service.⁵

The fundamental constitutional right at issue in *Porter* was the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, a constitutional right that had been established decades before in *Strickland* v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, (1984). *Porter* was merely an application of the *Strickland* standard to a particular case.

Lightbourne's claim is procedurally barred.

No exception to the time bar exists. Lightbourne merely reargues the facts adduced in the prior postconviction proceeding. Those issues were decided by this Court no later than 1999, and are procedurally barred. Lightbourne previously raised the same claim of ineffective assistance of counsel/Brady that he seeks to

In Reed v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections, 593 F. 3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2009), the Eleventh Circuit distinguished Porter on the basis of the "uniquely strong" mitigating nature of Porter's military service in combat. Reed, 593 F. 3d at 1249, n. 21 (noting ". . . Paragraph after paragraph in the Porter opinion concerns Porter's combat experience in Korea, recounted in great detail. Id. at 449-51, 455. The diagnosis in Porter was post-traumatic stress disorder from combat, not antisocial personality disorder. Id. at 450 n. 4, 455 & n. 9. Porter's military service was critical to the holding in Porter.

relitigate here. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Lightbourne cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Lightbourne is attempting to do here, his penalty phase ineffectiveness/Brady claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

Penalty phase ineffectiveness.

In an attempt to relitigate the denial of relief under Strickland, Lightbourne sets out a one-page argument on pages 36-37 of his brief. That conclusory argument is insufficient to present a claim or review. Bowles v. State/McNeil, 979 So. 2d 182, 192 (Fla. 2008) ("because Bowles' conclusory arguments on ineffective assistance of counsel are insufficient and an attempt to relitigate issues that are procedurally barred, we deny relief on this claim."). In any event, Porter did not address, much less change,

the appellate standard of review of factual findings. In fact, the United States Supreme Court never even mentioned the standard of review for factual findings in *Porter*. See *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 448-56. In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court stated that reviewing courts are required to give deference to factual findings made in resolving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and then review the rejection of the claim *de novo*. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 698. The United States Supreme Court addressed the extent to which the appellate or federal courts review the findings of the trial court and explained:

Although state court findings of fact made in the course of deciding an ineffectiveness claim are subject to the deference requirement of § 2254(d), and although district court findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), both the performance and prejudice components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S.Ct. at 2070.

In this Court's decision in *Porter*, 788 So. 2d at 923, this Court cited *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, n.2 (Fla. 1999) and stated that while the factual findings of the lower court should be given deference, the appellate court independently reviews mixed question of law and fact. This standard was repeated in *Lightbourne v. State*, 967 So.2d 131, 141 (Fla. 2007). The *Stephens* standard of review is expressly compelled by *Strickland*. This Court has not been misapplying *Strickland*'s standard of review. Giving deference

to the lower court findings of fact and independently reviewing mixed questions of law and fact is consistent with *Strickland*. Since the standard utilized by this Court in *Porter* is the same standard the United States Supreme Court enunciated in *Strickland*, there is no change in law. Because there has been no change in law, Lightbourne failed to meet any exception under *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.851(d)(2)(B).

Lightbourne, nevertheless, suggests that because Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004) cited to Porter, this Court's analysis in Sochor must have been flawed. (Initial Brief at 35). Sochor cited to Porter as a case which also involved conflicting expert opinions and in connection with its finding "that the circuit court's decision to credit the testimony of the State's mental health experts over the testimony of Sochor's new experts is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Sochor, 883 So. 2d at 783, citing Porter. Again, this finding is in accordance with the mixed standard of review applied in Strickland.

In addition, this Court has refused to allow relitigation of previously denied *Strickland* claims under the guise of more recent caselaw. *See*, *Marek*, 8 So. 3d at 1128. In other words, this Court has previously determined that the alleged "changes in law" suggested by Lightbourne do not satisfy *Witt*.

As previously noted, the revised standard of appellate review approved in *Stephens*, for claims of ineffective assistance of

counsel was held to not be retroactive under Witt in Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262, 267 (Fla. 2001). The courts of this state have extensively relied upon the Stephens standard of review and continue to do so today. See Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 834 (Fla. 2011) (stating, "[b]ecause ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of fact and law, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo. See Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766, 771-72 (Fla. 2004) (citing Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999))." Thus, if Porter, as construed by Lightbourne, is deemed a retroactive "change" in the law, the effect on the administration of justice would be overwhelming.

Lightbourne's reliance on Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010) also is misplaced. In Sears, the Georgia post-conviction court found trial counsel's performance deficient under Strickland, but then stated that it was unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears. Id. at 3261. In Sears, the United States Supreme Court did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Instead, the Supreme Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings

about the evidence presented. *Id.* at 3261. *Sears* does not support the assertion that the making of findings or giving deference in reviewing findings is inappropriate.

Lightbourne is not entitled to relief.

Even if *Porter* arguably changed the law and the alleged change was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, which the State emphatically disputes, Lightbourne still would not be entitled to any relief. As this Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31. As the United States Supreme Court recognized in *Strickland*, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to show that his counsel was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

Any other issue Lightbourne may attempt to argue that was not properly raised in the lower court cannot be argued on appeal. See Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 126, n2 (Fla. 2008) (claim not raised below not properly raised for review by this Court); Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347, 359 (Fla.2005) (to preserve for appeal, issue "must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation"). Likewise, any issue generally alleged which is not specifically briefed on appeal is waived. See Cooper v. State, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n. 7 (Fla. 2003) ("Cooper ... contend[s], without

specific reference or supportive argument, that the 'lower court erred in its summary denial of these claims.' We find speculative, unsupported argument of this type to be improper, and deny relief based thereon."); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues.").

Ineffective assistance of counsel - mitigation.

Regarding the mitigation ineffectiveness claim, this Court upheld the rejection of that claim in the prior postconviction proceeding. Lightbourne fails to explain how, since counsel was not deficient, any misapplication of the Strickland prejudice standard would impact his case. Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 834 (Fla. 2011) ("To successfully prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, both prongs of the Strickland test must be satisfied."). In Porter, there was no finding by the state court's on the deficiency prong and the Supreme Court analyzed the deficiency prong de novo. Here, as outlined above, the state courts found no deficient performance of Lightbourne's counsel after a thorough analysis of the facts and law. Lightbourne cannot meet the deficiency prong of Strickland; thus, there is no ineffectiveness and this appeal is patently frivolous.

As previously noted, under the law of the case doctrine,

Lightbourne cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). In addition, finding no deficiency is in accordance with United States Supreme Court precedent. See Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13, 19 (2009) (finding that, as in Strickland, defense counsel's "decision not to seek more" mitigating evidence from the defendant's background "than was already in hand" fell "well within the range of professionally reasonable judgments.") As a result, Lightbourne's claim would be meritless even if Porter somehow changed the law and applied retroactively. Regardless, Porter is distinguishable on its facts for the reasons set out above.

Collateral Counsel was not authorized to file this successive motion to vacate.

Pursuant to §27.702, "[t]he capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to s. 27.710 shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." The Florida Supreme Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital postconviction proceedings. See State v. Kilgore, 976 So. 2d 1066, 1068-1069 (Fla. 2007). The lower court was wrong when it did not find this as an additional reason tht the successive motion was improperly filed.

The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is

defined in §27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat., as follows:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of an affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal habeas corpus litigation with respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

§27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. Accordingly, CCRC-S was not authorized to file this patently frivolous, repetitive and successive motion.

Lightbourne is not entitled to any relief because collateral counsel is not authorized to file the unauthorized successive motion to vacate, the motion is time-barred, *Porter* did not change the law, any alleged change in law would not apply retroactively and the alleged "change in law" is based on the prejudice prong analysis in *Porter* and would not apply to this defendant because relief on Lightbourne's penalty phase ineffectiveness claim - based on the alleged failure to adequately investigate and present mitigation - previously was denied under the deficient performance prong of *Strickland*. The trial court's order summarily denying Lightbourne's successive motion to vacate should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the authorities and arguments herein, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the order of the

circuit court and deny all relief.